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3b0OPHUK 3A JIMKOBHE YMETHOCTHU MATHLE CPIICKE je nokpenyt 1963.
roauHe Kao HayyHu yaconuc Onesbema 3a JMKOBHE YMeTHOCTH Maruue cpricke y HoBom
Cany. Y meMy ce 00jaBJbyjy paJioBH U3 UCTOPH]E CPIICKE U JyTOCIOBEHCKE, aJTi ¥ CBETCKE YMET-
HOCTH CPEIH0BEKOBHOT, HOBOBEKOBHOT M MOJIEPHOT pa3n06sba. OTBOPEH je U 3a paciipaBe u3
MY3€0JI0rHje, XepUTOJIOTHje, CTYM]ja BU3YEJIHE KyIType U TeOpHje IMKOBHUX yMeTHOCTH. Me-
hyHaponHa penakiyja npuxsaTa caMo He00jaB/beHE YIaHKE KOJU Y HICTOBETHOM OOJIMKY HE MOT'Y
OuUTH MOHYheHH APYyroM u3/1aBady. 3a CBe Hay4HE pasioBe 00jaBJbEHE Y YACOMUCY peaaKInja U3
Kpyra yrieaHux qoMahux u cTpaHux HaydHHKa 00e30el)yje Hajmambe 1Be He3aBUCHE PEICH3H]E.

Unanuu, pactipaBe U MPUIIO3U UMajy CaXXeTKe, KIbyYHE PEeUH, pe3uMee Ha CTPAaHUM je3H-
1uma 1o u300py aytopa u YJIK 6poj no mehynaponroj bubmmoreuxoj kiacudukarmju. Yacommuc
U3J1a34 PEJOBHO jeAaHIyT FoAMIImbe y o0uMy 10 50 ayropckux Tabaka. CBaku Opoj canpiku
HMMEHCKH U Teorpadcku perucrap, a gocnena pasMeHoM y oko 100 cBeTckux Oubmnoreka.

N3naxeme yacomnuca puHaHCH]CKU TOMaXy MHUHUCTapCTBO MPOCBETE, HAYKE M TEXHOJIOII-
Kor pa3Boja Penyonuke CpoOuje u [TokpajuHCKH cekpeTapujaT 3a KyATypy U HHPOpMHUCAHE
AyTtonomue [Tokpajune Bojonune. Mnaekcupan je Ha EPUXITTIYC u ECLIU Knepusejt ana-
JUTHKC IUCTaMa Mel)yHapoIHHX HayYHUX YacoIHca.
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Opurunanuu Haydnu pan / Original scientific paper

The Art of Engineering:
The First Railway Bridge in Belgrade

ABSTRACT: The modernization processes in Serbia and the urban development of
Belgrade in the second half of the 19" century were closely linked to the engineering de-
velopment, railroad building, and the construction of bridges. The Sava river was the state
border of Serbia until the end of the First World War. The first Belgrade bridge, the Railway
Bridge (1882—-1884) over the Sava river was built by the renowned French Compagnie de
Fives-Lille pour constructions mécaniques et entreprises. It was a joint project of the King-
dom of Serbia and the Austria-Hungary, and a part of the railway connection of Western
Europe with Constantinople (Istanbul) and Salonika (Thessaloniki). The Railway Bridge
was destroyed during World Wars, and rebuilt soon afterwards, as it was the most important
railroad connection to Belgrade. In the Second World War, German engineering troops have
rebuilt the bridge, and renamed it the General Will Bridge (General Will-Briicke). Today,
named the Old Railway Bridge, it is an integral part of Belgrade cityscape.

KEYWORDS: the Old Railway Bridge over the Sava, the General Will Bridge (General
Will-Briicke), Fives-Lille Company (Compagnie de Fives-Lille pour constructions mécaniques
et entreprises), French engineers, German engineers, railway, Belgrade.

THE SERBIAN RAILWAY, AND THE FIRST RAILWAY BRIDGE
IN BELGRADE OVER THE SAVA RIVER

In the convention between Serbia and Austria-Hungary (1878), the Berlin Convention
(1878), and the Vienna Railway Convention (1880), the Principality of Serbia agreed to build
a railway line up the Morava valley from Belgrade to NiS. The first branch would continue
southwards up the Morava valley to Vranje for connection with the Ottoman railways in the
direction of Salonika (today Thessaloniki), the other running south-eastwards up the NiSava
valley to the Bulgarian frontier beyond Pirot, and in the direction of Constantinople (today
Istanbul). Austria agreed to connect the Austro-Hungarian system with these Serbian lines by new
construction, which would end with a large bridge over the Sava between Semlin (today Zemun)

" ailijevs@f.bg.ac.rs
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and Belgrade (BEAVER 1941: 279; Byuo 1981: 128).! In this way, Serbia would become the shortest
link of Western Europe with the Mediterranean ports and engage in the broad flows of inter-
national economic relations.

Belgrade and other Serbian towns were rapidly modernizing, and there was a need for local
and larger infrastructural projects and engineering skills. From the arrival of the first engineers
to Serbia in 1834/35 until the end of the First World War, more than a thousand engineers were
employed in Serbia. Some of them were foreign citizens, recruited as engineers under contract.
Serbian engineers were educated either abroad, sometimes as state scholars, or in Serbia after
the opening of the Technical Faculty of the Great School (SoLaia, Macpic 2009: n.p.). However,
at the time Serbia did not have the financial resources for a major project such as the construction
of railways, so the Serbian Government in early 1881 signed a contract for the construction of
the Belgrade—Nis—Vranje railway line with the French financial company Société de 1’'Union
Générale, whose board chair was renowned rail expert Paul Eugéne Bontoux. The loan contract,
which Serbian public considered financially very unfavourable, laid down in detail all the works
— from the project design of the railway line to the construction of bridges and railway stations.
All bridges are foreseen to be of iron construction and constructed according to the regulations
in force in France (Byuo 1981: 129). In January 1882, the Société de I’'Union Générale suddenly
went bankrupt, and the collapse caused the stock market crash in Paris. Consequently, a major
scandal broke out in the Serbian National Assembly, known as “the Railway Affair” or “the
Bontoux Affair””? The Serbian government, in a very difficult position, managed to name another
bank, the Comptoir national d’escompte de Paris, to take over the entire state loan. The new
contract was signed in early 1882, at the time when Serbia became the Kingdom.

One of the most important projects of the contracted railway link between the Kingdom
of Serbia and the Austria-Hungary was the Railway Bridge (Serb. Zelezni¢ki most; today
known as the Old Railway Bridge, Serb. Stari Zeleznicki most) over the Sava river (Fig. 1), a
border bridge between Belgrade and Semlin (today Zemun). The Railway Bridge built between
1882 and 1884 was a joint project of the two countries. Bridge design and construction was
carried out by the Compagnie de Fives-Lille pour constructions mécaniques et entreprises,
the major French public works and engineering company.?

Towards the end of the 19™ century, great public works began in France. From 1861 to
1905, the Fives-Lille workshops produced more than 2,000 railway bridges, about 100 road
bridges, several stations, and more than 2,000 locomotives. Fives-Lille also constructed railway
lines in Hungary, Eastern Europe, and South America. One of its flagship achievements was
a 750 meter long bridge over the Danube in Cernavoda, Romania (1883—-1895), that was a
milestone in the history of bridge construction techniques. In 27 months, the Fives-Lille built
a railway line between Budapest and Belgrade (Pest-Semlin line), 420 kilometers long, which
also involved the construction of several tunnels and two large bridges — one across the Dan-

' Regarding the development of the Balkan railways see more in: MuieHkoBus 1936; BEaver 1941; Basun 1998;
Samarpzi¢ 2010.

2 About the Société de I’'Union Générale, the role of foreign capital in modernization processes in Serbia at the
end of the 19" century, and political implications see: Bouvier 1960; Mutposus 2004; WHiTE 2007; SAMARDZIC 2010.

3 For an overview on the history of the Compagnie de Fives-Lille pour constructions mécaniques et entreprises
see: DuBors 1985; HErRmaNN, CARONN 2013; MELAN 1890.
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Fig. 1. The Railway Bridge over the Sava river in Belgrade, built 1882—-1884 by the Compagnie de Fives-Lille
pour constructions mécaniques et entreprises. (postcard, collection of A. Ilijevski)

ube at Novi Sad and the other across the Sava at Belgrade (Dusois 1985: 521, 522; HERMANN,
CaronN 2013: 18; MEeLAN 1890: 32).

During that period, the art of engineering was at its peak, and the Fives-Lille built the
Boieldieu Bridge on the Seine in Rouen, the Lafayette Bridge on the Rhone in Lyon (1888—-90),
and in 1897 assumed the construction of the Alexandre III Bridge (Pont Alexandre III) in Paris.
Numerous railway buildings, including the railway stations of Lille (1889-1890), Roubaix (1890),
the metallic structure for the roof of the Orsay Train Station (1898—1899) alongside Moisant-
-Laurent-Savey, as well as a line for the Paris Metro. The factory in Lille with Cail constructed
the Machine Gallery (Galerie des Machines) of the 1889 I’Exposition Universelle in Paris. The
company made the hydraulic elevators for the Eiffel Tower which still operate today. (DuBois
1985: 523-524; HERMANN, CaRONN 2013: 43-44).

The Railway Bridge on the Sava had a total length of 463 meters. It was a truss bridge
made of iron, a grid structure with vertical bars, and a large number of closely spaced diago-
nal elements — right and left angle bars. The piers were solid, constructed with stone masonry
(by®EBALL 1997: 34, 35; Stiranic, BubEvac 1989: 319).

Land expropriation, construction of a proportionate section of the bridge, access roads,
including the railway to the Belgrade Railway Station, were excluded from the bank contract,
and was under the financial authority of the Serbian Government (SamarDZIC 2010: 127-128).
In 1883, the railway from the bridge to the newly constructed Belgrade Railway Station building
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was completed, and the first railroad line in Serbia, Belgrade — Nis, about 250 km long, was
put into service on September 3, 1884 (AvramovitcH 1919: 8). Soon afterwards, in 1888 through
communication was possible from Belgrade to Salonika and Constantinople. The first line fol-
lowed the Morava valley south of NiS, crossing the Danube-Aegean watershed, and joining the
already existing Vardar valley line at Skopje. Meanwhile, the Austro-Hungarian line Budapest
— Maria Theresiopel (Subotica) — Neusatz (Novi Sad) — Belgrade was completed. An inaugural
train left Budapest on 12 August 1888 and duly arrived at Constantinople. The service ran
regularly, and reduced the journey time between the two capitals from fifty-six hours to
thirty-eight hours. The Belgrade—Constantinople time was reduced from ten days by road to
thirty hours by rail. A daily connection was established each way from Vienna to Salonika and
Constantinople, the average speed of the trains being about 21 miles, i.e., 34 kilometers per
hour (BEaver 1941: 280).

In Belgrade, a local railway was built in 1899 from the Belgrade Railway Station to the
Slaughterhouse factory complex at Karaburma area. At the same time, tracing the railway
along the Sava and the Danube riverbanks will lead to unfavourable urban development of
that part of the capital city.

THE RAILWAY BRIDGE DURING THE FIRST WORLD WAR

At the beginning of the First World War, on 28 July 1914, shortly before midnight, the
Austro-Hungarian armoured ships tried to break through from the direction of Zemun. There
was an exchange of fire between the Austro-Hungarian Army on the left, and Serbian soldiers
and volunteers on the right bank of the Sava. Then, in the immediate vicinity of the Railway
Bridge, one of the bullets hit and killed a volunteer, DuSan Ponovi¢, young employee of the
Serbian Railway Directorate (AHoHuMm 1914a: 2). Belgrade Railway Bridge became a place of
remembrance on the first casualty of the First World War.

Shortly after midnight on July 29, due to escalating fire, Serbian Army captain Mihailo
Ali¢ with soldiers mined the Railway Bridge and interrupted the only link of the invading
Austro-Hungarian Army with the right bank of the Sava. The three parts of the bridge super-
structure fell into the river, while the piers remain intact. According to the newspaper report, the
Austro-Hungarian Army subsequently released forty-seven projectiles on the bridge, but it remained
in the same condition as it was left by the Serbian miners after the blast (Anonum 19146: 1). The
bridge over the Sava in Belgrade, after being damaged by the Serbian Army, was entirely de-
stroyed by the Austro-Hungarian Army during their initial retreat in 1914 (BunLer 1930a: 43).

On the Austro-Serbian front line, it was important to rebuild the bridge over the Sava near
Belgrade, since it was crucial for the railway line to Bulgaria and Ottoman Empire. An operation
with a railway ferry was initially established, that could hold 24 railway carriages. Soon after, with
Austro-Hungarian war bridges material, three companies of the Austro-Hungarian and three
companies of German railway engineers worked on the repair of the bridge and completed the
task in two months. On December 30, 1915, the bridge was officially opened (Anonum 1916: 28).

At the beginning of the war, the Austro-Hungarian Army adopted the Zelisko-Roth-Waagner
system, which made it possible to establish the largest war bridges. Primarily it was only in-
tended for spans from 45 to 110 m and for piers up to 60 m high, and used for railway and road
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(source: BUHLER 1930c¢)

the Sava, 1916—1917, Military bridge replaced by permanent semi-parabolic
structure (source: BUHLER 1930c)

bridges. In the form of continuous beams, this system allowed even larger spans. The elements
could be carried by arm and transported on the road by tanks. The assembly was done on a
cantilever scaffold, on one or on two sides, using two swivel cranes with 6.5 m flights, which
are sufficient for the assembly of two 6 m panels (BunLEr 1930b: 70-71).

In 1915 the Bridge over the Sava was rebuilt with temporary construction, Kohn (6.30 m)
and Zelisko-Roth-Waagner (2.48 m -d- 1.95 m) systems. The opening on the right was a reused
span, 84 m long (1915), and the length of the bridge was 475 m (Fig. 2). The military bridge was
replaced in 1916—17 by permanent semi-parabolic beams, so the army could reuse military bridge
elsewhere (BUHLER 1930c: 90) (Fig. 3). A new steel structure was delivered from the factory
in Reschitz (Rou. Resita) (Stipani¢, BupeEvac 1989: 319; bypesal 1997: 35-36).

During the retreat in 1918, The Austro-Hungarian and the German Army demolished
that rebuilt bridge, in a way that only the structure above the first opening on the Belgrade
side, all foundations and pylons remained intact (Fig. 4, 5).

According to the testimony, the Railway Bridge on the Sava was demolished at exactly
1.10 pm on November 1, 1918. At the time, it was already clear that the last enemy soldier had
left Belgrade. After the bridge was destroyed, people from Belgrade went to the Kalemegdan
park at the Belgrade Fortress. From there, they could see the enemy soldiers running across the
Zemun Polje, along the railway line towards Zemun. Immediately afterwards, strong detonations
began (MunytuHoBus 1938: 851). As the Serbian Army advanced rapidly, the enemy forces
systematically destroyed the railroad network, including bridges, tunnels, stations, and loading
platforms (AvRamoviTcH 1919).
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Fig. 4. The Railway Bridge over the Sava, demolished
during the Austro-Hungarian and the German Army
retreat in 1918. (source: AvRAMOVITCH 1919)

Fig. 5. The Railway Bridge over the Sava, demolished
during the Austro-Hungarian and the German Army
retreat in 1918. (source: AvrRamoviTcH 1919)

BELGRADE BRIDGES DURING
THE INTERWAR PERIOD

After the First World War, Belgrade became
the capital of the Kingdom of Serbs, Croats and
Slovenes (from 1929 Kingdom of Yugoslavia).
National interest was the political and economic
integration of unequally developed parts of the
new country. The restoration of ruined transport
communications and the linking of road and rail
networks within the newly formed Kingdom
was of paramount importance. Communication
routes, domestic and international traffic, were
of particular importance for economic growth.
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Fig. 6. Belgrade: aerial view, before the Second World War. Lower left: the Zemun Bridge of King Aleksandar I
the Unifier over the Sava river, and upper right The Panc¢evo Bridge of King Petar II over the Danube
(postcard, collection of A. Ilijevski)

In the period between the two World Wars, constructions of new bridges over the rivers
Sava and Danube in Belgrade were infrastructure projects of the highest national importance,
because river borders, woven into the memory of the nation no longer existed. The reconstruc-
tion of the destroyed the Railway Bridge on the Sava should reconnect Belgrade with Zemun,
and pre-war Serbia with the western parts of the country. In 1921 the Railway Bridge was
rebuilt with the same type of construction from Romanian Steel Works and Domains of Resita
(Uzinele de Fier si Domeniile Resita; U.D.R. or U.D.R.I.N.) what was installed during the First
World War (bypeBALl 1997: 36-37).

One of the main determinants of urban expansion Belgrade was the need to build new
bridges to enable territorial development of the city, and connect the capital with different
parts of the Kingdom. This was evident in the 1923—-1924 Master Plan of Belgrade. In addition
to the existing Railway Bridge, three more bridges were planned. The bridge over the Sava
river along Brankova Street would represent the fastest traffic connection to Zemun. Bridging
the Danube over Ada Huja would establish a connection with Pancevo and Banat (Fig. 6). The third,
unbuilt bridge, was planned at the confluence of two rivers, starting from the Cara Dusana
Street, and going across the river island called Veliko ratno ostrvo towards Zemun. (Bykca-
HOBUR-MAILYPA 2014: 300; Kapuevic 2015: 510-511).
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Belgrade was still an important railroad connection. At the meeting of the Commission
of Railways Ports and Waterways of the Peace Conference in 1919, the Kingdom of Serbs,
Croats and Slovenes signed the agreement that the new train, called the Simplon Orient Express
will connect London and Paris via Milan, Trieste, Belgrade and Sofia to Istanbul.

The railroad line from Skopje via Belgrade to Zagreb, approximately 900 km long, had
a parallel railroad lines in some parts built as a double track. These parallel lines represented
the backbone of the state, because they run through the Morava and Sava valleys. In only one
place, from Topcider to the Sava Railway Bridge, there was single track 4 km long. (BAckoBuh
1933: 657). In early 1933. authorities concluded that the Railway Bridge has reached its maximum
load and had to be reconstructed into a bridge with two tracks, with additional connection to
the Topcider and the Belgrade Railway Station. At the time, it was estimated that an average
of 15 pairs of passenger and 7 pairs of freight trains pass through the bridge in 24 hours. As the
traffic will increase in the future, the plan was to build the bridge parallel to the Railway Bridge
(PAaxoueBur 1933: 386-387; /1. C. 1937: 9).

The priority in the Kingdom was to build a railway link between Pancevo and Belgrade.
Preparatory work began in May 1927, and works on the road—rail bridge in May the following
year. The Pancevo bridge of King Petar II (Serb. Pancevacki most kralja Petra II) was built by a
consortium of German companies: Hein, Lehmann & Co. from Diisseldorf-Oberbilk; Gutehoftf-
nungshiitte AG from Oberhausen; C. H. Jucho from Dortmund; Aug. Klonne from Dortmund;
Fried. Krupp AG from Rheinhausen; Maschinenfabrik Augsburg Niirnberg (MAN) AG from
Mainz Gustavsburg; and Vereinigte Stahlwerke AG from Dortmund. At the same time, a railway
line between Pancevo and Belgrade was built. The bridge over the Danube, and the railway line
Belgrade — Pancevo were officially opened by Prince Pavle Karadordevi¢ on November 10, 1935
(AHoHuM 1935: 693; StipaniC, Bubevac 1989: 324). The Pancevo bridge of King Petar 11 Kara-
dordevi¢ reduced the journey from Belgrade to Pancevo from twelve hours to only thirty minutes.

In 1929 the international competition for the road, tram, and pedestrian Zemun bridge of
King Aleksandar I the Unifier (Serb. Zemunski most viteskog kralja Aleksandra I Ujedi-
nitelja) across the Sava river was announced. The bridge, 457 meters long, was erected by the
French construction company the Société de Construction des Batignolles from Paris (pylons
and approaches), and the German company the Gutehoffnungshiitte from Oberhausen (met-
alwork construction). Russian émigré architect Nikolai Petrovich Krasnov (Hukonaii [lerpong
Kpacuog, 1864—1939) from the Architectural Department of the Ministry of Civil Engineering
designed the bridge pylons. The bridge was officially opened on the birthday of the late king
Aleksandar, on December 17, 1934 (Kapuevi¢ 1996; boro3an 2011; Minusecku 2013; 2014).

THE RAILWAY BRIDGE AND THE SECOND WORLD WAR

At the start of Germany’s lightning campaign into the Balkans, massive aerial bombing
of Belgrade caused terrible casualties. Although declared an open city, Belgrade was bombed
in four raids on April 6, and again on April 7, 11, and 12, 1941. Bombs destroyed a large part
of the city, but the German pilots did not bomb the bridges, as infrastructure was of paramount
importance for passing troops and delivering materials. On the evening of April 12, 1941, land
units occupied Pancevo. Due to the infiltration of the German Army through Banat and Srem,
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the demolition of the bridges on the Danube and the Sava near Belgrade was ordered, which
Yugoslav Army engineers had done on the night of 11/12. April. The Sava river bridges — the
Railway Bridge, and the King Aleksandar I Bridge were partially demolished. On the river
Danube, miners destroyed the central part of the King Petar II Bridge to delay the enemy
advance. Nevertheless, the German Army entered Belgrade as early as April 13". During the
occupation, the German Army rebuilt the King Petar II Bridge, which was targeted again
during the Allied bombing.

The Railway Bridge was necessary for the German Army to transfer equipment and troops
to the territory of Southeast Europe and to transport the wounded. From 23 April to 29 May 1941,
German Railway Troops (Ger. Eisenbahntruppen) rebuilt the Railway Bridge over the Sava river
with war structure. The inscription was also affixed: General Will-Briicke / Erbaut von Eisenbahn-
pionieren on 23 April — 29 May 1941 (the General Will Bridge / built by the railway pioneers
/ from 23 April — 29 May 1941). The new bridge was officially put into service by General
Joachim von Kortzfleisch. On that occasion, a flower-decorated train crossed the bridge, named
after General Otto Will, commander of the Railway Troops. German railway pioneers were
well-known for their work on the reconstruction of railway lines, and the occupying authorities
wanted to emphasize their importance by naming the bridge after General Otto Will.

German troops needed double rail track, so they started the construction of the parallel
bridge, 20 m downstream. That second bridge was in construction until 1944. In the Allied bomb-
ing, both bridges were damaged. During the German Army retreat in October 1944, bridges
were mined. The bridge upstream (the first bridge) was demolished, and could not be repaired.
The second bridge was partially destroyed (Stipani¢, BubEvac 1989: 323; BybeBAlLl 1997: 35).

German soldiers in 1942 also built a new bridge across the Sava. It was named after Prince
Eugene of Savoy (Sava Bridge, Serb. Savski most; today the Tram Bridge, Serb. Tramvajski
most; or Old Sava Bridge, Serb. Stari savski most), an Austrian general who took Belgrade
from the Ottomans in the 18" century. It was a border bridge as the Sava became a border
river once again. During the war operations to liberate Belgrade on October 20, 1944, at the
height of the struggle, teacher Miladin Zari¢, observing the way the Germans set explosives
on the Sava Bridge, came to the bridge and cut off the activation cables, saving the bridge.
During the withdrawal from Belgrade in October 1944, the occupying army also destroyed
the only bridge on the Danube, the King Petar II Bridge.

THE REVERBERATION OF THE BELGRADE BRIDGE

After the Second World War, economic, social and political changes caused that the de-
stroyed Belgrade bridges were rebuilt in a new design, as the symbols of Belgrade new urban
topography. The repair of the Railway Bridge was done during 1945, since it was an important
railway link. The construction of the first Railway Bridge was removed, and the parts of the
second bridge were reused on the first Railway Bridge (Stipani¢, Bubevac 1989: 323; By bEBAIL
1997: 35). That reconstructed Railway Bridge remained the only Belgrade railway bridge over
the Sava River until the opening of the New Railway Bridge in 1979.

In 1945, Russian engineers reconstructed the King Petar II Bridge on the Danube. In 1946
traffic was released over the bridge and the rebuilt bridge was named the Red Army Bridge
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(Serb. Most Crvene armije). After further reconstructions, the name Pancevo bridge remains.
The steel structure of the Bridge of King Aleksandar I the Unifier was destroyed in a bombing
during the war, while parts of the substructure remained (the pylons), and still stand under the
new bridge. During the period of socialism, the bridge was officially called the Bridge of
Brotherhood and Unity (Serb. Most bratstva i jedinstva, today Branko Bridge, Serb. Brankov
most). The old Sava Bridge, now known as the Tramway Bridge, was the first only pedestrian
bridge. In 1984 tram rails were placed, as part of the tram line to the Block 45 in New Belgrade.

Fig. 7. The Railway Bridge over the Sava river in Belgrade, 2020. (Photo by A. Ilijevski)

Bridges, utilitarian structures by their purpose, have always been significant architectural
endeavours. Throughout history, and especially in Belgrade, to bridge the river meant not only
to merge the two riverbanks, but to symbolically conquer the new territory. The Railway Bridge
was the first to be destroyed in the wars, and the first to be rebuilt. Through ideological con-
text, bridge can be viewed as a complex symbol of socio-political and cultural aspects of the epoch.
Today, the Old Railway Bridge has lost its function, and the deteriorating structure requires
an urgent repair (Fig. 7, 8). As an important historic bridge, it has to be re-evaluated, listed as
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Fig. 8. The Railway Bridge over the Sava river in Belgrade, detail, 2020. (Photo by A. Ilijevski)

heritage, and preserved. Through rehabilitation or adaptive reuse, we need to re-imagine the
Old Railway Bridge as a part of the public space, like a pedestrian zone and a botanical garden
of the New York City’s High Line project, or a space with art installations. This phoenix bridge
could be reborn as a pedestrian and bicycle bridge that is a communicational link to the inte-
gral parts of Belgrade. We have a unique opportunity to preserve a piece of our past. The Old
Railway Bridge represents a emblem of engineering endeavors, place where space and time
meet, and site filled with memory and historical value.
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Anexcanapa /. nujeBcku
YMETHOCT UHXEWBEPCTBA: ITPBU XXEJIEBHUYKH MOCT Y BEOT'PAJTY
Pesume

Monepam3anujcku nporecu y CpOuju 3aro4eT y IpyToj moJoBHHE XX Beka U ypOaHUCTHYIKH Pa3Boj
Beorpaza Ouim cy ycko NOBE3aHH ca pa3BojeM HHIKSHEPCKE CTPYKe, H3rPaJBhOM MPEKe Kele3HHUIIa 1 MO-
crosa. [IpBu 6eorpaacku moct, JKenesanuku MocT (18821884, nanac Ctapu xKele3HHIKH MOCT) TIPEKO peKe
Cage, usrpaauia je peHoMmupana ¢ppanmnycka kommnanuja d@us-JIna (Compagnie de Fives-Lille pour con-
structions mécaniques et entreprises). JeaaH o/ HajBaKHHUJUX MPOjeKaTa YTOBOPEHE JKEIC3HUYKE Be3e U3Melhy
Ayctpoyrapcke u KpasseBune Cpouje 61o je rpannyHH MocT 11peko peke Case y beorpany. Moct je 61o neo
Be3e 3anagHe EBporie ca [apurpamom u Conynom. XKenesnuuku mocT Ha peru CaBu je OUo o1 BapeHOT
reoxha n nmao ykynuy nyxuny 463 metpa. Konctpykuuja je Ouia penieTkacTa, ca rnapajeTHuM M0jaceBU-
Ma 1 HCITYHOM O] yKPLITEHHX BEepTHKAJA U AUjaroHana, mpeko net orsopa. ®us-JIun je Takohe uarpaano
xKenesHNUKy npyry usmelhy Bynumnenre n beorpana (muanja [lemra—Cemnun), nyry 420 kmiomerapa,
ca HeKOJIMKO TyHela U JiBa Benuka mocta — nnpeko Jlynasa y Hoom Cany u Xenesunukum npexo Case y
Bbeorpany.

Ha moueTky [IpBor cBeTckor para, yop3o HakoH oHohH, 29. jyna 1914. 300r HHTEH3UBHpamka BaTpe,
karetan Muxamino Anuh je ca cabopriiiva MuHUpPao JKene3sHMIKHA MOCT U HaAUPyhoj ayCTpoyTapcKoj BOjCIIH
MIPEKHHYO jeuHYy Be3y ca necHoM obasiom Cage. Tpu Jiena rBo3zieHe KOHCTPYKIIMjE T1alia Cy Y peKy, 10K Cy
cTyOOBH M TeMeJbU OcTau HeomrTelieHn. 3a BpeMe OKymaluje, HermpHujaTesbcka Bojcka je ooHosmia JKe-
JIC3HUYKH MOCT jep je Ousio OuTHO ycroctaBuTu caodpahaj ca byrapckom u OcManckuM apctBomM. Moct
Cy MOPYLIUIIK y TOKY TIoBJadera 1918. ronune.
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Hakown para JKene3HHUKH MOCT je TOHOBO OJUTHYT M IIPEJICTaBIba0 j€ BaXKHY JKEIE3HUUKY Be3y m3Mely
nse teputopuje Kpasmesune Cpba, XpBata u Crosenana (og 1929. KpasseBune Jyrocnasuje), kao u 3Ha-
yajHy pyTy MehyHaponue npyre. ¥ beorpaxny cy ce msrpannnu MocT BUTEIIKOT Kpajba Anexcanapa |
Yjenunurespa (1929—-1934) npexo Cae u [lanueBauku moct kpasba [Tetpa 11 (1927-1935) npeko lyHasa.

Toxom Jlpyror cBeTckor pata, 300r HaJupamwa HempujaTesbcke Bojcke npexo banara u Cpema, y
Beorpany cy y vohu 11/12. anpuna 1941. ronune Munupanu moctoBu. Ha CaBu cy A€TMMUYHO MOPYIICHH
XKenesnnuxu moct 1 MocTt kpasba Asnekcanjpa I. Ha /lynaBy cy MuHepH jyroclIOBEHCKE BOjCKE YHHIITHIIN
cpenummy aeo Mocta kpassa Ietpa II.

Hewmauke sxene3anuke Tpyme cy on 23. anpuia 10 29. maja 1941. ronquae o6HOBHIIE XKEene3HNIKH MOCT
npexo CaBe pemeTKacToM paTHOM KOHCTPYKIMjoM. ToM mpuiankoM je u moctaBibeH Hatnuc: General
Will-Briicke / Erbaut von Eisenbahnpionieren / vom 23. 4. — 29. 5. 1941. (Moct renepana Buna / u3rpaau-
JIU JKeTIe3HUIKH MHOHUPH / on 23. 4. — 29. 5. 1941). HoBu MocCT je cBeuaHO IycTHO y caoOpahaj renepan
Joaxum or Kopridmajmr (Joachim von Kortzfleisch). Bo3 ykpamen neehem npemao je mpexo Mocta, Ha3Ba-
Hor 1o rerepairy Oty Buny (Otto Will), 3amoBeqHuKy xene3HnIkux Tpymna. Hemaukum Tpymama 6mo je
noTpedaH TyIuIH KOJoceK, ma ¢y 20 m HU3BOIHO 3aro4ely rpaiby mapajerHor MocTa. J{pyru MocT je 6ro
y usrpazmu 10 1944, roqune. Y caBesHHYKOM 60MOapaoBamy 00a MocTa Cy omiTelicHa, a TOKOM TTOBJIauCHha
HeMauke Bojcke y okToOpy 1944. ronune u munupana. CaHaiuja je u3Bpiiena Tokom 1945. ronune, kaja
j€ YKJIOEeHa KOHCTPYKIIH]a IPBOT XKEJIE3HMUKOT MOCTa, a JIeJIOBU JIPYTror MOCTa yHOTpeOJbeHH Ha MPBO-
OUTHOM JKEJIE3HUIKOM MOCTY.

MocToBM Cy IPBH Y paTy CTpaJaly U IPBH Cy Ce HAKOH paTta oOHaBJbasu. Kpo3 BHXOBY U3rpajiby
1 MJICOJIOIIKHM KOHTEKCT MOT'Y CE carjefaBaTu KOMIUIEKCHH APYIITBEHOIIOJIMTUYKN U KYJITYPHHU aclleKTH
BpeMeHa y KoMe ¢y HacTajain. CTapu jkelIe3HHIKH MOCT y beorpany mpeko pexe CaBe cuMOOIT je HCTopHje
WHKEHEPCKUX MOAYXBaTa U MECTO KOJIEKTHBHOT cehama.

Kipyune peun: Crapu xene3Hnuku MocT npeko Case, Moct renepana Buna (General Will-Briicke),
Kommanuja ®us-JInn (Compagnie de Fives-Lille pour constructions mécaniques et entreprises), hpaHIlycKu
WHXEHkEepU, HEMadKn HHXKEeHEPH, JKeJle3Hua, beorpan.

" Vpenuumrso je mpumuiio pax 16. 12020. u oxo6puiio ra 3a mramiy 3. IV 2020.
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